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PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 July 2022 
 
Principal and Chief Executive’s Statement 
 
As we approached the third academic year impacted by the pandemic, the overarching priorities we 
identified for 2021-22 were to: 
 
• Work safely through the pandemic, paying close attention to the health and wellbeing of students 

and staff, 
• Focus on our goals and values, ensuring that we make progress on our equality outcomes, and  
• Make work better for staff and the learning experience better for students. 
 
We started the 2021-22 academic session hopeful that there would not be a repeat of the previous 
challenging year which was the worst that colleges had ever experienced. Many staff, including those 
who had been furloughed, returned to campus in August 2021 for the first time since March 2020. 
Although some were naturally anxious about being back amongst large numbers of people, they 
were quickly reassured by the measures in place to mitigate the spread of the virus on campus and 
by the wellbeing support provided by the college. This was reflected in very positive feedback in the 
annual staff survey carried out in November 2021 with 97% agreeing that the college takes positive 
action on health and wellbeing. 
  
Sixty per cent of students returned to campus-based learning in August 2021 although a significant 
proportion, particularly at full-time higher education level, continued to learn online all year. Students 
returned to improved campus facilities including a new technology-enabled learning centre, a large 
multi-functional Student Association hub, and expanded and upgraded engineering and construction 
workshops.  
 
The year was not without disruption. Many students and staff continued to be affected by the virus 
and increasing numbers were forced to isolate as the Omicron variant took hold. The rise in Omicron 
infections as the year progressed led the government to instruct colleges to return to online learning 
in the two weeks before and after the festive break, resulting in the campus being closed to all 
students and most staff for a total of six consecutive weeks. Unfortunately, the EIS organised strike 
action in April and May 2022 that led to further anxiety for students.   
  
Despite these challenges, the college had a very successful year. A 17% increase in credit-funded 
student enrolments led to the college exceeding its credit target to deliver over 50,000 credits for the 
first time. Overall student success increased on the previous year’s highest ever level to 83.4%.  
  
We enhanced measures to improve learning and teaching across the college by creating a network 
of learning champions, lecturers with time allocated to provide peer support, share good practice and 
advise on pedagogy. From October 2021, the vice principal for learning and attainment brought 
together all lecturers, assessors, instructors and skills coaches each week for professional 
development sessions. The Learning Continuity Group, established in August 2020 to support digital 
pedagogy, continued with support from new dedicated learning technologists. A successful 
Education Scotland progress visit acknowledged these developments and the quality of student 
support provided by the college. 
  
A continuing priority in 2021-22 was supporting the wellbeing and motivation of students and staff to 
get through the third academic year affected by the pandemic. Students benefited from the 
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continuation of a free warm breakfast and lunch provided by the college, and pre-cooked healthy 
meals from a local food charity that were distributed by the Student Association. We made good use 
of additional funding to support students facing mental health problems and financial challenges. This 
included providing proactive winter fuel payments. In addition to existing counsellors, we recruited a 
specialist member of staff to further help students (this post did not continue in 2022-23 as it was 
funded by one-year SFC funding in 2021-22). The Man Cave, a dedicated space for male students to 
talk about mental health, met weekly in-person and online throughout the year and was recognised 
with a highly commended College Development Network award. 
 
We invested over £1.6 million in improving our learning estate, supported by a specific capital grant 
and additional Covid funding from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC). To support the growing 
demand for apprenticeships, we built an additional industry standard electrical workshop. We created 
a new Digital Health Hub to develop the skills needed to address demand in the health and social 
care sector. We also created a bespoke area, The Compass Point, to support our work with students 
affected by poverty, trauma and displacement. In addition, we repurposed many teaching spaces to 
support innovative learning and teaching. All these new facilities were underpinned by modern digital 
technology. 
    
Through our increasingly symbiotic relationship with West Lothian Council and our enhanced local 
partnerships with employers and the third sector, the college supported a range of measures to help 
people whose jobs were affected by economic disruption caused the pandemic by providing bespoke 
courses designed for specific industry sectors. For example, our innovative Skills Boost for Scottish 
Ambulance Service mobile testing unit staff enabled them to progress onto other health and social 
care jobs once the testing units were stood down. This work was recognised with two College 
Development Network awards, a winning award for employer engagement and a highly commended 
award for innovation.  
  
Despite Covid restrictions remaining in place for most of the year, we managed a careful return to 
large gatherings, including our first on-campus graduation ceremony since 2019 and an increasing 
number of student, staff and stakeholder events as we approached the summer months. For ongoing 
operational business, we used in-person, virtual and hybrid approaches as appropriate. The college 
made a commitment to sustain hybrid working beyond the pandemic and redesigned staff 
workspaces and communication guidelines to accommodate this. 
  
We aim to lead with vision and empathy.  
 
In a year that communities remained fractured as a result of the pandemic, the college crystallised its 
role as an anchor institution. We enhanced our trauma responsive work through the establishment of 
the TRUST project, opening our resources to partners from a wide range of council departments, 
government agencies and third sector organisations. Together, we made progress on providing a 
coherent, proactive and compassionate offer to young people affected by trauma, poverty and the 
challenges that these bring.  
 
We welcomed a growing community of Ukrainian refugees into the college to enable them to build 
networks and friendships, develop their English language skills and support them into jobs or onto 
courses that would lead them to work. We opened our doors to public and third sector organisations 
and hosted events such as West Lothian PRIDE, a celebration of carers across West Lothian and a 
wonderful fun day for Ukrainian orphans and their house mothers (the latter organised by health and 
social care students). 
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In May 2022, the college gained Investors in People Gold accreditation that improved on the silver 
status we achieved three years before. This recognised the progress we have made in making work 
better for and investing in our staff. It was an excellent illustration of our progress on the principles of 
Fair Work. The report concluded that: 
 
“Against this backdrop of change, fatigue and upheaval, the aim for many organisations has been to 
hold steady at their prior accreditation award level. In May 2019, West Lothian College was 
accredited at the silver level. Not only have you been reaccredited, you achieved the next higher 
level of award, the GOLD award. This is a phenomenal achievement!” 
   
About West Lothian College 
  
West Lothian College is one of thirteen college regions in Scotland and serves an area with one of 
the fastest growing populations in Scotland. Positioned on the M8 corridor between Scotland’s two 
largest cities, the college operates in an area with a region with a relatively strong economy.  
  
The college provides a wide range of further and higher education courses to meet the needs of 
West Lothian’s people, communities and economy. These support government priorities such as 
Developing the Young Workforce, the Young Person’s Guarantee and widening access to higher 
education. Hundreds of senior school pupils in West Lothian’s twelve secondary schools take part in 
college courses each year alongside their school qualifications and the college continues to be the 
top choice for school leavers.  
  
West Lothian College plays a critical role in achieving community planning partnership priorities to 
address the skills needs of employers and enable people to be better educated with access to quality 
learning and job opportunities. The college has a symbiotic relationship with West Lothian Council 
and increasingly with third sector organisations across the region.  
  
West Lothian College is a free-standing corporate body under the provisions of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, as amended by the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and subsequently the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013. It is governed by a Board of 
Governors and receives most of its funding directly from the SFC. The college is listed on the 
Scottish Charity Register and is entitled, in accordance with section 13(1) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, to refer to itself as a charity registered in Scotland 
(SC021216). 
 
 Vision, Goals and Values 
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The college’s vision is to develop a highly skilled, enterprising and resilient workforce. Four strategic 
goals help us to achieve that vision: 
 
• Inspiring and enabling success for all  
• Supporting economic recovery and growth  
• Strengthening our communities  
• Leading with vision and empathy. 
 
Three values underpin our approaches to all that we do including achieving our vision and strategic 
goals. They are: 
 
• Welcoming to all 
• Students at the centre of everything we do 
• Always striving for better. 
 
Our external Investors in People assessment reported in May 2022 that:   
 
“The values of welcoming to all, students are at the centre of everything we do and always striving for 
better are so ingrained in the organisation. There are so many examples of these values being 
embedded in what you do especially when it comes to the students being at the centre of everything. 
In all areas staff speak about the students and their work is centred around student activities.” 
 
Performance Summary 
 
The 2021-22 Student Satisfaction and Engagement Survey showed that 95.1% of full-time further 
education (FEFT) students were satisfied with their overall experience of college, and 95.5% of 
higher education (HEFT) students. In line with our commitment to improve articulation for all 
students, over the year we added a further 40 pathways and one additional institution, Glasgow 
Caledonian University.  
  
Our partnership with Edinburgh Napier University continued to flourish and is further secured after 
our initial two-year partnership with a more permanent agreement. This allows business degree 
students to remain on our campus but enrolled as Edinburgh Napier students. They will continue to 
be taught by lecturers from the university and supported by college lecturers for their pastoral and 
tutorial needs.  
 
Examples of notable student success from our 2021-22 cohort include:  
  
• Three HND Software Development students secured graduate apprenticeship software developer 

roles at Forrit, a leading software company, progressing directly into year 3 of BSc (Hons) 
Software Development at Edinburgh Napier University. 
 

• Twenty-one HNC Childhood Practice students received 47 offers from universities and seven 
HND Childhood Practice students received a total of sixteen offers for direct entry into year 3 of 
BA Education Studies at Queen Margaret University.  
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• Two HNC Social Sciences students were awarded prestigious scholarships for St. Andrews 
University, one to study Psychology, the other Social Anthropology and Archaeology. 

 
• HNC Art students who applied to university in 2022 received a total of 25 offers and all received 

offers for direct entry into second year at Duncan of Jordanstone College of Art and Design. 
 

• Forty HNC Healthcare Practice students gained paid placements as Band 2 Clinical Support 
Workers with NHS Lothian through which they achieved their HNC hours. As well as the benefits 
experienced by our students, this helped to ease the ongoing workforce crisis in the NHS, and 
Edinburgh Napier University  supported twelve of these students to articulate to year 2 of BSc 
(Adult) Nursing. 

 
• A VRQ3 Light Vehicle Maintenance student won a business start-up grant from Bridge 2 Business 

and gained a Scottish Motor Trade Association Skills Award for her work on challenging gender 
imbalance in the industry. 

  
Analysis of Key Performance Indicators 

 
Outcome Agreement Activity Targets 
  
The college exceeded its core credit activity target, as well as the target for additional credits 
allocated for the Young Person’s Guarantee (YPG) and the National Transition Training Fund 
(NTTF). In 2021-22 we delivered our highest ever number of credits - 50,665 against a revised target 
of 49,609 (which included 1,833 credits for NTTF and YPG). Disruption in schools during the 
pandemic contributed to the college not meeting our Foundation Apprenticeship target. 
 
2021-22 Target Claimed 
Core Credits 42,840 43,315 
ESF 1,483 1,602 
YPG/NTTF 1,833 2,645 
Foundation Apprenticeships 2,541 1,567 
Deferred students 912 1,536 
Total 49,609 50,665 

 
This continued high performance illustrates the growing demand for college places in West Lothian 
which was recognised by SFC in the allocation of an additional 1,143 to our core credit target from 
2022-23. While this increase is welcome it does not address the level of demand in a region with a 
growing population. 
  
While the number of senior phase pupils studying vocational qualifications at the college remained 
broadly the same as 2021-22, the total number of pupils attending school/college courses increased 
significantly to 1,075 – a record high reflected in the 3,866 credits delivered to support these 
students. Continuing our commitment to Developing the Young Workforce, we enrolled 163 
Foundation Apprenticeship students from schools across West Lothian, including 114 new starts. 
  
The college played a key role in supporting economic recovery over the year through a growing 
portfolio of work-based learning opportunities. We delivered Scottish Vocational Qualifications to 984 
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employees in 350 organisations, and supported 421 Modern Apprentices in training (including 233 
new starts). Through the Flexible Workforce Development Fund, we worked with 64 companies to 
train 2,550 employees.  
 
The college exceeded its Skills Boost targets for the second year through a range of bespoke short 
courses. For example, 106 Scottish Ambulance Service mobile testing unit operatives enrolled on our 
nine-week Gateway to Health and Social Care course with 100% success. This course provided 
upskilling opportunities for these temporary employees to secure other roles in the health and social 
care sector now that the testing units have closed. Training took place in our forest classrooms two 
nights per week over five weeks to upskill 135 early years practitioners on Forest Kindergarten to 
enable them to embed outdoor learning pedagogy in nurseries and primary schools across West 
Lothian. Towards the end of 2021-22 during the summer period, 71 Ukrainian students enrolled on a 
range of ESOL classes delivered five full days a week over six weeks. 
  
Enrolments 
 
Credit-funded enrolments increased by 17% in 2021-22 from 6,315 to 7,308. The largest rise was for 
Further Education Part-Time (FEPT) enrolments which increased by nearly one thousand, with 
notable growth in school/college enrolments. Although there was a small decrease in full-time credit-
funded enrolments, we did not experience the same recruitment challenges as many others in the 
sector.  
 
The college continued to be the top destination for school leavers in West Lothian moving onto FE or 
HE qualifications at college in 2021-22. Nine out of ten full-time students lived in West Lothian, forty 
per cent in Livingston and sixty per cent in the other towns and villages across the region. Overall, 
81% of students studied FE while 19% studied HE. This was different for full-time students, forty per 
cent of whom studied HE qualifications and sixty per cent studied FE. 
  
Student Success 
 
In 2021-22, student success improved in all areas except for Higher Education Full-Time (HEFT). 
Overall, 83.4% of students completed their course successfully, up three percentage points on the 
previous year, and likely to be the highest or amongst the highest in the sector. Three-quarters of 
enrolments were part-time, and success for part-time students continued to be high with FEPT 
success rising to 91% and HEPT improving to 87%. This very strong performance was therefore a 
significant contributor to our high overall success rates.  
  
For the third academic year, successful outcomes for full-time students were impacted by the 
pandemic. While students in 2021-22 did not experience the extended lockdowns of the previous 
year, all colleges were required to limit the number of students taking part in campus-based learning 
for most of the year. Apart from the two weeks before and after the festive break when tighter 
restrictions were imposed to mitigate the rise of Omicron, over 60% of full-time students took part in 
learning on campus throughout the year. While this was a significantly higher proportion of campus-
based learning than almost all other colleges, we managed it safely and there were no outbreaks or 
spread of the virus on campus. 
 
We prioritised campus-based learning for FEFT students, knowing from the previous year that they 
would be most at risk if their learning continued to be mainly online. There is no doubt that this was 
the main reason for an increase of four percentage points in success for these students (completed 
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success for FEFT students aged 16-19 increased by six percentage points). Almost all these 
students experienced consistent in-person learning throughout the year that ensured practical 
learning activities continued, they were able to build relationships with lecturers and peers, and take 
advantage of support on campus such as the free food.  
 
During the year, we established a working group to review full-time FE provision, delivery and 
student success. We identified the following improvements, which have been implemented, and we 
expect these will help build on the increase in student success in the current year:  
 
• Improve induction process for August 2022 and January 2023 starts   
• Redesign all FEFT courses and reduce to 16 credits 
• Create a new course tutor role with dedicated time to support students  
• Implement a Red, Amber, Green rated risk register for lecturers to highlight immediate support 

needed by students most likely to withdraw early.  
  
In contrast, a large proportion of HEFT students participated in their courses entirely online 
throughout 2021-22, particularly in subjects like business, computing and social sciences. HEFT 
student success declined significantly compared with the previous year and not being able to take 
part in campus-based learning contributed to this decline for some students. Further analysis showed 
that the biggest contributor to reduced HEFT success was the performance of students aged 16-19, 
particularly those who started a full-time HE qualification directly from school. This group of students 
represented 40% of all HEFT enrolments in 2021-22 and the sixteen-percentage point reduction in 
success for these students was the most significant contributor to the decline in overall HEFT 
outcomes, Students aged 25 or older, who represented 39% of enrolments, experienced a 
significantly smaller two percentage point drop in success. 
  
Younger students who had progressed to HE from an FE course at college fared better than those 
who started directly from school, suggesting that many senior phase pupils starting higher education 
qualifications at college in August 2021 struggled to cope with this level of study after a significantly 
disrupted educational experience in their final year at school. 
 
In 2020-21, the college had the highest student success for all enrolments over 160 hours in the 
sector. We were one of the top three colleges for success of key student groups such as those living 
in SIMD10/20 postcodes, those who were care experienced, declared a disability or were from an 
ethnic minority group. We expect our strong comparative performance to be maintained in 2021-22.  
 
Improving our Physical and Digital Learning Estate  
  
Physical Estate  
 
Improvements in the college estate in 2020-21 contributed to improvements in student success in 
areas such as FEFT engineering. In 2021-22, aided by a £660,000 capital grant and additional Covid 
funding from SFC, we: 
 
• Created an additional electrical workshop 
• The Compass Point  
• The Digital Health Hub 
• A second Forest Classroom 
• An extension to the front entrance of the main building  
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• Adapted the upper floor of the main building to better support hybrid working 
• Installed an outdoor gym and additional fixed gazebos for learning and recreational purposes. 
  
Digital Estate 
  
In 2021-22, £565,000 was invested in 700 new laptops (over 300 for student loan) and desktop 
computers, 30 Clevertouch mobile digital screens, and a complete upgrade of our network 
infrastructure. To strengthen our resilience against a cyber attack, the college was accredited as 
Cyber Essentials Plus in November 2021 and invested in a Chief Information Security Officer. 
  
Fair Work 
  
The college is committed to the principles of Fair Work and implementing our People Strategy, a 
commitment endorsed in May 2022 by our external Investors in People assessment which stated: 
 
 “This is a college that is absolutely people focused. A place with a robust culture and clear set of 
values and behaviours that permeate both decision-making and interactions. The last two years 
could have felt unbearable and broken people, yet West Lothian College has maintained staff morale 
and further developed the work experience.”  
 
The following is a brief summary of progress made in 2021-22 on the five dimensions of the Fair 
Work Framework. 
  
Effective Voice 
  
There is a strong culture of openness and transparency in the college which was acknowledged by 
staff in surveys and in the Investors in People assessment in 2021-22. 
  
Engagement with trade union representatives took place through quarterly EIS and UNISON 
meetings. In addition, senior managers met fortnightly with both unions jointly on Covid matters and a 
range of proactive measures were agreed, for example early encouragement of mask-wearing and 
investing in carbon dioxide monitors across the campus. 
  
Throughout the year the principal held regular small group drop-in conversations with staff that 
enabled them to share concerns and make suggestions for improvement. Staff meetings, online and 
on-campus, took place during the budget process to explain the financial challenges facing the 
college. All-staff events took place at key points throughout the year with Board members attending 
so that they could engage directly with staff and hear their feedback first-hand. 
  
Our annual staff survey is a valuable barometer of staff views and the November 2021 survey had a 
response rate of 78%. There was continuing high positive feedback and areas identified for 
improvement were addressed during the year. 
  
Security 
  
The college is a Living Wage Accredited Employer and everyone in our workforce is paid at least the 
Real Living Wage including the Modern Apprentices we employ. 
When the increase in the Real Living Wage rate was announced in November 2021, we implemented 
it immediately despite having until May 2022 to do so. 
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 As far as possible, the college gives permanent contracts to employees. For fixed-term contracts, 
clarity is provided on the period covered by the contract. National terms and conditions provide a 
route map for eligibility for permanency. The college does not make use of zero-hours arrangements, 
ensuring fairness and predictability for earnings and work which is particularly important for those 
with caring responsibilities.  
  
Respect 
  
A comprehensive Employee Assistance Programme, which includes free counselling and 
physiotherapy sessions, continued to be used well by staff in 2021-22. We introduced an annual 
wellbeing festival for all staff with a wide range of in-person as well as virtual workshops on physical 
and mental wellbeing. Most of the enhanced wellbeing support put in place in the two previous 
pandemic years was sustained, for example an annual wellbeing day for all staff. Nearly two hundred 
staff took part in resilience training in 2021-22 supported by SFC funding for staff and student mental 
health and wellbeing. 
  
A short-life project group in 2021-22 reviewed how to embed hybrid working arrangements in the 
college beyond the emergency years. Recommendations to create bespoke hybrid workspaces and 
produce a communication guide were consulted with staff and trade unions, approved by the Board 
and implemented. 
  
Individual and team successes continued to be recognised each week in an update sent out to all 
staff by the principal. As well as acknowledging employees, the staff survey confirmed that this is an 
effective way of sharing good practice across the college and in helping colleagues connect with the 
college community. 
  
Fulfilment 
  
The college held regular all-staff online and in-person events throughout the year for development, 
communication and celebration purposes. These had consistently high levels of participation. 
  
Our annual Celebrating Success ceremony recognises staff achievements and in June 2022 over 
220 colleagues took part in an on-campus celebration for which we received the highest ever number 
of nominations from almost all parts of the college.   
An outdoor gym, supported by dedicated SFC funding in 2021-22 to support health and wellbeing, 
was installed for staff and students to take part in physical exercise.  
  
Opportunity 
  
The college achieved Investors in People Gold accreditation in May 2022, external verification of how 
we invested in people, engaged with staff and made work better for employees.  
  
The college was reaccredited as a Disability Confident Employer in June 2022 and used the Minority 
Ethnic Recruitment Toolkit to improve the diversity of our workforce and attract more people from 
minority backgrounds. This had a very positive impact on Board membership in early 2022 and we 
now have three ethnic minority members on the Board. We conducted an equality and diversity 
census in 2021-22 to gather more data on staff protected characteristics so that we can be even 
more proactive in how to support them.  
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We continued to deliver and support a wide range of learning and development activities to enable 
staff to carry out their responsibilities well, to further develop their skills for career progression and to 
increase satisfaction with their work. Lecturers were encouraged and supported to register with the 
General Teaching Council for Scotland, resulting in 100% of eligible lecturers registering in 2021-22. 
Some staff benefited from mental health and wellbeing training delivered by a local third sector 
organisation, others completed mental health first aid training, and some took part in Wellness 
Recovery Action Plan training. 
  
During 2021-22, we continued to make progress on developing our young workforce and recruited 
two Modern Apprentices as well as two Kickstart placements who both secured posts at the college 
at the end of their six-month paid placement. 
  
Key Issues and Risks  

 
The college’s risk management framework includes a risk management policy, a Strategic Risk 
Register with each member of the executive leadership team assigned as a risk owner for each risk 
and the risk appetite set by the Board of Governors at an annual risk workshop facilitated by the 
college’s internal auditors. 
 
The Board of Governors undertook a review of the strategic risks in 2021-22 and agreed 23 risks facing 
the college. The risks that carried the highest risk rating were: 
 
• Being unable to meet demand for courses due to insufficient funding 
• Failing to deliver the curriculum plan for 2021-22 due to disruption from the ongoing pandemic 
• Inflexible organisation structure due to national bargaining restrictions  
• Our estate not adequately reconfigured in line with the college’s ambition for growth due to 

insufficient resources 
• Unaffordable pay awards and terms and conditions negotiated through the national bargaining 

process  
 
The key actions taken to mitigate against those risks were: 
 
• Regular discussions with Ministers and SFC on opportunities for additional credits and the 

readiness of the college to respond  
• Setting the curriculum planning timeframe to ensure full engagement of stakeholders 
• Scenario planning and new models of delivery undertaken  
• Setting aside money each year from our estates grant to continue campus improvements and 

communication with local Members of the Scottish Parliament and SFC to highlight need for 
additional resources. 

 
BREXIT 
 
The college has not yet experienced any significant impacts from BREXIT. 
 
Going Concern 

 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
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operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is largely due to the change of treatment of deferred 
Government Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.   
 
Financial Review  
 
Nature, Objectives and Strategies  
 
The college’s management and control ensures financial stability is sound, and there are clear 
management structures and reporting arrangements in place with performance indicators and risk 
management processes to support delivery of outcomes.   

 
To monitor progress against its Outcome Agreement, the college focuses on a range of key 
performance indicators which are reviewed by managers and the Board of Governors on a regular 
basis. Delivering on the curriculum plan due to Covid restrictions, unaffordable pay awards and 
funding estates developments were among the key risks identified in the college’s 2021-22 strategic 
risk register.   
 
The board presents its report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2022. 
The Board of Governors has approved these accounts on the basis the college is a going concern. 
The audited financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention in line with 
the principles and guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice, Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education and with the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). 
 
Scope of the Financial Statements 
 
The Financial Statements cover all activities of the college. 
 
Financial Position  

 
Financial Results for the year ended 31 July 2022 
 
The college generated a deficit before other gains and losses in the year of £2,636,000 (2021 - deficit 
of £1,742,000), with total comprehensive income surplus of £18,564,000 (2021 – surplus of 
£2,593,000). The total comprehensive income in 2022 recorded an actuarial gain in respect of pension 
funds of £17,321,000 (2021 – gain of £4,335,000).   
After transfer of £3,879,000 from the revaluation reserve (nil in 2021). The cumulative deficit on the 
Income and Expenditure account decreased by £14,682,000 from £17,458,000 deficit to £2,776,000 
deficit. 
  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £316,000 for holiday pay accrual, £2,211,000 for 
voluntary agreed PFI termination loan, £2,770,000 for early retirement provisions off-set by surplus, 
£2,334,000 for defined benefit pension obligations and £187,000 for trading activities (see Note 16). 
 
The college is reporting net total assets of £8,643,000 in its balance sheet, which is due to the 
reclassification of deferred Government Grant as deferred income within creditors and allocated 
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between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate and the 
actuarial gain in respect of Pension Schemes combined with a surplus on the Interim Revaluation of 
assets of £3,879,000. 
 
Cash Budget for Priorities  
 
Following their reclassification as central government bodies from 1 April 2014, colleges are now also 
required to comply with Central Government budgeting rules. In addressing the impact of these 
budgeting rules, Scottish Government and SFC committed to providing the cash budget previously 
earmarked for depreciation for use on specified priorities. 
 
Colleges have now each been given a fixed cash budget for priorities which must be spent on agreed 
government priorities as outlined in the table below. Spend of the college’s cash budget for priorities, 
and impact on the operating position for the academic year, is detailed below. 
 
Table of cash budget for priorities spend 
 

 2021-22 
£’000 

2020-21 
£’000 

Revenue Priorities - - 
   
Total impact on operating position 
 

- - 

Capital   
Loan repayments - - 
Early retirement provision payments 
 

190 190 

Total Capital 190 190 
Total cash budget for priorities spend 190 190 

 
 
SFC has confirmed that a deficit resulting from the college following its guidance should be treated 
as a ‘technical’ deficit and should not be interpreted, on its own, as a challenge to the college’s 
ongoing financial sustainability. Audit Scotland accepts that a deficit arising from the use of cash 
funding originally provided for non-cash depreciation does not indicate an underlying financial 
sustainability concern. 
 
Adjusted Operating Position  
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) presents the financial performance during the 
accounting period in accordance with the FE/HE SORP. The adjusted operating position is intended 
to reflect the financial performance of the college after allowing for non-cash adjustments and other 
material one-off or distorting items required by the SORP. The adjusted operating position is therefore 
designed to smooth any volatility in reported results arising from FRS 102 and also to recognise that 
some of the reported costs do not have an immediate cash impact on the college. This should give a 
better indication of the college’s cash generative capacity. 
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 Note 
 

2021-22 
£’000 

2020-21 
£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses 
(FE/HE SORP basis) 

 (2,636) (1,742) 

Add back: 
- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant) 
- Pension adjustment – Net service cost (FRS 102) 
- Pension adjustment – Net interest cost 

 
1 
2 
3 

 
409 

2,071 
265 

 
   625 
1,781 
  264 

Deduct: 
- CBP allocated to Early Retirement Payments 

 
  4 

   
  

 
190 

 
190 

Adjusted operating (deficit)/surplus  (81) 738  

 
No additional payments were made towards the Early Retirement Provision during the year (£9,000 in 
2020-21). Taking this into account the adjusted operating result in 2020-21 was a surplus of £729,000.  
 
Note 1 Depreciation net of deferred capital grant is added back in recognition that this has a non-cash 

budget from the Scottish Government. 
Note 2 The non-cash element of current and past service pension cost less cash contributions paid. 
Note 3 The non-cash element of interest earned on pension assets less interest cost on pension 

liabilities. 
Note 4 Cash payments in respect of the Early Retirement Provision included in CBP.  

 
Taxation Status 

 
The college is registered with the Office of the Scottish Charities Regulator as a Scottish Charity and 
is exempt from corporation tax and capital gains tax. The college receives no similar exemption in 
respect of Value Added Tax. 

 
Cash Flows  

 
Cash flow projections are prepared annually, broken down on a monthly basis to ensure that these 
are sufficient to meet the needs of the college.  These are reviewed monthly and reports are provided 
to the Executive Leadership Team and the Finance and General Purposes Committee.  Bank 
balances are checked on a daily basis and day-to day surplus funds are deposited overnight in a 
high interest bank account.   
 
Liquidity 

 
The college uses a number of ratios to assess the college’s liquidity. The two key ratios are current 
assets: current liabilities and days cash to total expenditure. However as a result of ONS 
reclassification the college is only able to hold minimum cash reserves.  At the end of 2021-22 
current assets: current liabilities were 1:1.1 and days cash to total expenditure was 44 days reflecting 
the ONS requirement.   
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Creditor Payment Policy  
 

The college complies with the CBI Prompt Payment Code and has a policy of paying its suppliers 
within 30 days of invoice unless the invoice is contested.  All disputes and complaints are handled as 
quickly as possible. The college did not pay any late interest payments during the year. 

 
The Scottish Public Finance Manual sets a Government target for the payment of invoices within ten 
working days of their receipt. While this is a difficult target for the college to achieve, it nevertheless 
strives to pay all invoices as promptly as possible. 

 
Post-Balance Sheet Events  
 
There are no post-balance sheet events. 
 
Human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters 
 
West Lothian College is committed to upholding human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery within 
the college and through the supply chain. 
 
Environmental matters 

 
West Lothian College recognises that it has a role to play in the conservation and protection of the 
environment. The college works towards improving its own environmental and sustainable practices 
and promoting an awareness of environmental responsibilities amongst our staff and students. 
 
Through our Environmental and Sustainability Policy we: 
 
• comply with and exceed when possible all applicable legislation, regulations and codes of 

practice 
• ensure that all environmental risks are assessed, managed and controlled 
• integrate sustainability considerations into all our business decisions 
• minimise the impact on the environment and our sustainability of our core activities, and 
• review and continually strive to improve our sustainability and lessen our impact on the 

environment. 
 
In January 2022 the college joined the Central & South Scotland College Partnership (with EAUC, 
Borders College and Forth Valley College) and hired a Sustainability Project Manager, who is helping 
the partnership to deliver sustainability-related initiatives, to apply for funding and provides additional 
expertise. The college has worked with the Sustainability Project Manager to update the college Net 
Zero Plan, including ambitious targets, by adopting the Climate Action Roadmap for FE Colleges. 
 
Throughout 2021-22 the college Sustainability Committee has worked hard to promote the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals through events and initiatives to raise awareness of the SDGs 
(including new graphics and displays). Teaching staff also took part in the Global Goals Teach-In for 
the first time – an international event which aims to highlight the contribution of education toward the 
SDGs. 
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With support from the Scottish Green Public Sector Estate Decarbonisation Scheme the college 
completed an energy audit of the campus, to identify opportunities to reduce the energy used in and 
emissions produced by our buildings. This has outlined several projects for improvement (e.g. 
replacing gas heating with heat pumps) and we will begin to apply for further funding to make these 
improvements in 2022-23. 
 
In 2021-22 the college was granted funding to develop a unique ‘training facility, consisting of two 
semi-detached houses to demonstrate sustainable construction methods and renewable 
technologies to students. This is expected to be fully constructed during 2022-23. 
 
Numerous improvements have also been made to the existing campus including the delivery of two 
new composters, which will allow us to process our food waste in house and reduce the need for 
collection. 
 
Climate Change (Scotland) Act compliance 

 
The college complied with the Scottish Government sustainability reporting in line with the 
requirements of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009.   
 
The Performance Report is approved by the Principal on 6 December 2022 
 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Governors on the service 
arrangements and remuneration of the Principal and determines the service arrangements and 
remuneration of Vice Principals. 
 
Remuneration including salary and pension entitlements 
 
Salary Entitlements1 
 
The following table provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of college senior 
management. 
 
Single total figure of remuneration 
 12 months ended 31 July 2022 12 months ended 31 July 

2021 (Restated) 
 
Name 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension 
Benefit* 
£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension 
Benefit* 
£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Alex Linkston 20-25 0 20-25 20-25 0 20-25 
Jackie Galbraith 115-120 45-50 160-165 115-120 25-30 140-145 
Simon Earp 75-80 10-15 90-95 75-80 30-35 105-110 
Sarah-Jane Linton** 75-80 130-135 210-215 75-80 215-220 290-295 
Jennifer McLaren  75-80 30-35 110-115 75-80 30-35 110-115 

 
*The value of pension benefits is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20 plus the 
real increase in any lump sum less the contributions made by the individual.  The x20 multiplier aims 
to bring public bodies in line with other industries in disclosing an assessed cumulative pension 
benefit for a standard 20 year period which is the estimated life span following retirement. 
 
**Sarah-Jane Linton joined the college September 2020. The pension benefit is significantly higher 
due to the fact that Sarah-Jane Linton transferred in benefits from previous service during 2020-21. 
 
Median Remuneration 
 
Colleges are required by the FReM to disclose the relationships between the remuneration of the 
highest paid official and the median remuneration of their workforce.  Total remuneration includes 
salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits in kind.  It does not include severance 
payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 

                                                 
1 Note: 
 

a) The salaries in the above table represent the amount earned in the financial year 
b) The value of pension benefits is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20 plus the real increase in any lump sum less the 

contributions made by the individual.  The x20 multiplier aims to bring public bodies in line with other industries in disclosing an assessed 
cumulative pension benefit for a standard 20 year period which is the estimated life span following retirement. 

c) The details in this table are subject to audit 
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 2021-22 

£’000 
2020-21 

£’000 
Change 

 % 
Range of workforce remuneration £18,018-

£118,000 
£17,912-
£117,000 

+0.90% 

Highest paid official remuneration £117,500 £117,500 No 
change 

Median (total pay and benefits) £32,753 £34,170 -4.15% 
Median (salary only) £32,753 £34,170 -4.15% 
Ratio 1:3.6 1:3.4 +5.55% 
25th percentile (total pay and benefits) £25,283 £25,283 No 

change 
25th percentile (salary) £25,283 £25,283 No 

change 
Ratio 1:4.7 1:4.6 +2.17% 
75th percentile (total pay and benefits) £43,357 £42,357 +2.31% 
75th percentile (salary) £43,357 £42,357 +2.31% 

 
Ratio 1:2.7 1:2.8 -3.57% 

 
Median pay reduced and the ratio between median pay and highest paid increased. This occurred 
due to the generous national bargaining lecturing pay harmonisation agreement which brought the 
vast majority of the pre-2019 cohort of lecturers to the top of the significantly increased national pay 
scale (compared with the pre-existing local salary scale). With the passage of time predominantly 
lecturers from this cohort retire and/or leave. Post-2019 lecturer salary placing rules mean more 
recent lecturers are placed at lower scale points. Hence the trend towards a reduction in median pay 
and an increase between median pay and the highest paid.  
 
Based on the twelve-month equivalent figures above, the banded remuneration of the highest paid 
official in the organisation in the financial year 2021-22 was £115k-£120k (£115k-£120k in 2020-21). 
Based on banded remuneration this was 3.4 times (3.4 times in 2020-21) the median remuneration of 
the workforce which was £30k-£35k (2020-21 £30k-£35k). 
 
Accrued Pension Benefits  
 
Pension benefits for employees are provided through the Scottish Teacher’s Superannuation 
Scheme (STSS), a defined benefit scheme which is notionally funded, and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS). Both STSS and LGPS are career average salary pension schemes. 
 
The scheme’s normal retirement age is the scheme member’s state pension age. 
 
Contribution rates are set annually for all employees. There is no automatic entitlement to a lump 
sum. Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance 
Act 2004. The accrual rate guarantees a pension based on final pensionable salary and years of 
pensionable service.  
 
Senior Officials’ Pension 
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Pension benefits are provided to senior officials on the same basis as all other staff. The accrued 
pension benefits for senior officials are set out in the table below, together with the pension 
contributions made by the college. 
 
 
 
Name 

Accrued 
pension at 

pension age  
at 31/07/22 

£’000 

Accrued 
lump sum at 
pension age  
at 31/07/22 

£’000 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
01/08/21 to 

31/07/22 
£’000 

Real 
increase in 
lump sum 

01/08/21 to 
31/07/22 

£’000 
Jackie Galbraith 19 0 3 0 
Simon Earp  8 0 1 0 
Sarah-Jane Linton 18 2 7 0 
Jennifer McLaren  19 0 2 0 

 
Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. 
 
 
Name 

CETV 
at 31/07/22 

£’000 

CETV 
at 31/07/21 

£’000 

Real increase in 
CETV 
£’000 

Jackie Galbraith  295 245 50 
Simon Earp 112 85 27 
Sarah-Jane Linton* 203 114 89 
Jennifer McLaren  300 265 35 

 
*Sarah-Jane Linton joined the college in September 2020 
 
The value of the accrued pension benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which the 
person will first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on account of its 
payment at that age; without exercising any option to commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; 
and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of their total Local Government service and 
not just their current appointment.  
 
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should be 
taken into account:  
 
(i) the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out 

above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive upon 
retirement.  

(ii) the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the employer 
and the scheme member have made over a period of time. 
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Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any 
benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
 
Compensation for loss of office 
 
Two employees left under voluntary exit terms during the year.  
 

                                 2021-22 2020-21 

£’000 Number of 
Employees 

Number of 
Employees 

10-15 1 0 
15-20 0 0 
20-25 0 0 
25-30 0 0 
30-35 0 0 
35-40 0 0 
40-45 1 0 

 
There were no compulsory redundancies in the year. 
 
Staff Report 
 
Salaries and Related Costs 
 

  

2022 2022 2022 2021 
Directly 

employed 
staff 

Seconded 
and agency 

staff 
Total Total 

£’000 £’000     
    £’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 11,133 0 11,133 10,478 
Social security costs 1,066 0 1,066 978 
Other pension costs  4,201 0 4,201 3,785 
Restructuring Costs 5 0 5 -9 
Total 16,406 0 16,406 15,232 
Average number of FTE 302 0 302 294 

 
The college employed 283 females (70%) and 124 (30%) males during 2021-22 (headcount). 
 
In the year ended 31 July 2022 staff turnover was 16.95% 
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Sickness Absence Data 
 
The total sickness absence percentage as at 30 June 2022 was 4.11%. This is higher than the 
equivalent figure for 2020-21 (1.35%) due to an increase in both short and long term sick absence. 
The historically low sickness absence rate in 2020-21 arose due to a significant proportion of the 
workforce being on furlough due to Covid and a Covid trend of notably lower sickness absence during 
lockdowns and other periods of societal restrictions. 
 
Facility Time 
 
In accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017, the 
college provided the following support through paid facility time for union officials working at the college 
during the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 
 
Relevant union officials 
 
Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant 
period 

7 

Full time equivalent employee number 5.9 
 
Percentage of time spend on facility time 
 
Percentage Number of employees 
0% 0 
1%-50% 5.9 
51%-99% 0 
100% 0 

 
Percentage of pay bill spend on facility time 
 
Total cost of facility time 21,516 
Total pay bill 16,406,000 
Percentage of the total pay bill spend on facility time 0.1% 

 
Paid trade union activities 
 
Time spend on trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours was 100%. 
 
Equal Opportunities  
 
The college is committed to its core values of being welcoming to all – ensuring all staff, regardless 
of background, and circumstances are welcomed, retained, encouraged, and developed. 
Recruitment processes have been revised to ensure that the college attracts a more diverse talent 
base and have gained some beneficial insight on inclusivity gained through our staff equality and 
diversity survey. 
 
The framework and direction for action on equal opportunities are set by the college’s People 
Strategy (https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/media/4937/people-str-2021-2025.pdf), Equality, Diversity, 

https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/media/4937/people-strategy-2021-2025.pdf
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and Inclusion Policy) equality-diversity-and-inclusion-policy.pdf (west-lothian.ac.uk) and other 
equality reporting explained in the college’s Equality Mainstreaming Report (https://www.west-
lothian.ac.uk/media/4936/equality-mainstream-report.pdf ). 
  
The college pays due regard to the key aims of the public sector equality duty by ensuring that all 
staff undertakes mandatory training at induction on equality diversity and inclusion. Further training is 
undertaken for managers and staff on themes such as unconscious bias.  
 
The college monitors and reports on the fairness and effectiveness of equality and diversity activities 
through workforce data monitoring, including an annual staff experience survey, and publishing of 
Equal Pay Audit Reports by gender, ethnicity, and disability. On particular equality themes, the use of 
external accreditation supports progressing equality and diversity in areas such as disability 
(Disability Confident Employer, Epilepsy Friendly) and sexual orientation (Silver LGBT Charter Mark). 
  
The college recognises and commits to the further need for action to ensure the workforce is 
representative of the local community. In particular, work using the Scottish Government’s minority 
ethnic recruitment toolkit encourages applications from BAME backgrounds. Action is also taken via 
various initiatives to support younger people in employment with the college. Across other protected 
characteristics further work is undertaken to support and encourage applicants from across the 
community removing any real or perceived barriers to employment from applicants and ensuring all 
staff can make a full contribution to the college’s work once in the post. 
 
Approved by the Board of Governors on 6 December 2022 and signed on its behalf by:  
 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
  

https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/media/5085/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-policy.pdf
https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/media/4936/equality-mainstream-report.pdf
https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/media/4936/equality-mainstream-report.pdf
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT 
 
Board of Governors 

 
Membership of the Board of Governors 
 
The Post 16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013 requires that the board of a regional college should 
consist of no fewer than 15, nor more than 18 members. The Board of Governors members who held 
office during the year were as follows: 
 
Name  Position  Appointed  Term  
Alex Linkston  Chair  27 Jun 20  2  
Sue Cook   Vice Chair and Non-Exec  1 Mar 19  2  
Frank Gribben  Non-Executive  1 Mar 19  2  
Iain McIntosh  Non-Executive  1 Mar 19  2  
Colin Miller  Non-Executive  1 Mar 19  2  
Elaine Cook  Non-Executive  2 May 19  1 
Thomas Bates  Non-Executive   1 Aug 21  2  
Moira Niven  Non-Executive  1 Dec 20  2  
Sue Stahly  Non-Executive/Senior Independent  14 Nov 19  1  
Abel Aboh  Non-Executive  5 Jan 22  1  
Richard Lockhart  Non-Executive  1 July 20  2  
Seonaid Crosby  Non-Executive  29 Sep 21  1  
Jackie Galbraith  Principal and Chief Executive  6 Aug 18  n/a  
Neil Sinclair  Teaching Staff  25 Jun 19  2  
Virginia Toyi  Support Staff  4 Feb 22  1  
Jeanette Dobson  Student Association  1 Aug 20  1  
Kirsti Clark  Student Association  1 Aug 20  1  
Tony Sharkey  Co-Opted  15 Mar 22  1  
Rehela Hussain  Co-Opted  15 Mar 22  1  
Name  Position  Appointed  Change  
Lynne Hollis 
Julia Simpson  

Non-Executive 
Staff  

2 May 19 
6 Sep 18  

Resigned May 22 
Resigned 3/11/21   

 
Membership of the Executive Leadership Team 
 
The Executive Leadership Team is responsible for the day to day management of West Lothian 
College’s activities and operations and consists of: 
 
Jackie Galbraith Principal and Chief Executive 
 
Simon Earp              Vice Principal Performance and Improvement 
 
Sarah-Jane Linton Vice Principal Learning and Attainment 
 
Jennifer McLaren Vice Principal Finance and Corporate Services 
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Related Party Transactions 
 
Due to the nature of the college’s operations and the composition of its Board of Governors (being 
drawn from local public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions will take 
place with organisations in which a member of the college’s Board of Governors may have an 
interest, and will be recorded as such in the Minutes of the Meetings and/or the Register of Interest. 
All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have a 
material interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with normal project and 
procurement procedures. The related party transactions due to/by the college for the year ended 31 
July 2022 and the amounts outstanding at this date are disclosed in note 24 and a link to the register 
of interests is provided below. 
 
https://www.west-lothian.ac.uk/corporate-and-governance/board-information/ 
 
Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 requires that organisations report on personal data related 
incidents.  In 2021-22, the college had no reported data incidents (2020-21: no incidents). 
 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
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Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 
 
The Board of Governors is required to present audited financial statements for each financial year.
          
In accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the Further 
& Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 
2013, the Board of Governors is responsible for the administration and management of the college’s 
affairs, including ensuring an effective system of internal control, and is required to present audited 
financial statements for each financial year.        
      
The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of the college and enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 1992 as amended by the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently 
amended by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013, the 2019 Statement of Recommended 
Practice - Accounting for Further and Higher Education, the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
2021-22 (FReM) where applicable and other relevant accounting standards.  In addition, within the 
terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum agreed between the Scottish Funding Council and 
the college’s Board of Governors, the Board of Governors, through its designated office holder, is 
required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the 
college’s state of affairs and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.  
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the 
Scottish Funding Council which brings together the provisions of the Financial Memorandum with 
other formal disclosures that the Scottish Funding Council require the Board of Governors to make in 
the financial statements and related notes. 
            
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is required to:   
             
• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;  
 
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;    

         
• State whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  
 
• Prepare financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the college will continue in operation. The Board of Governors is satisfied that it has adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and for this reason the going concern 
basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.    

 
The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to:      
       
• Ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for which 

they have been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding 
Council and any other conditions which the Funding Council may from time to time prescribe;
              

• Ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources;  
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• Safeguard the assets of the college and prevent and detect fraud;  
  

• Secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the college’s resources and 
expenditure.            
    

The key elements of the college’s system of internal financial control, which is designed to discharge 
the responsibilities set out above, include the following:      
        
• Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, heads of academic 

and support departments;  
       
• A comprehensive medium and short-term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual 

income, expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets;  
    
• Regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and quarterly reviews of 

financial results involving variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns;  
  
• Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with 

investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to formal detailed 
appraisal and review according to approval  levels set by the Board of Governors; 

         
• Comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures, approved by 

the Audit Committee and the Finance and General Purposes Committee;  
      
• Professional internal audit team whose annual programme is approved by the Audit Committee 

and endorsed by the Board of Governors and whose head provides the Board of Governors 
with a report on internal audit activity within the college and an opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the college’s system of internal control, including internal financial control. 

        
Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.   
 
Auditor 
 
The Auditor General for Scotland has appointed Mazars LLP to undertake the audit for the year 
ended 31 July 2022. 
           
Disclosure of Information to Auditors 
 
The Board of Governors certify that, so far as we are each aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the college’s auditors are unaware; and as members of the Board of Governors 
we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make ourselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the college’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the board on 6 December 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
Alex Linkston 
Chair  
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
  
Introduction  
  
The college is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. This 
summary is written to assist the reader of the financial statements and describes the manner in which 
the college has applied the principles of good governance set out in 2016 Code of Good Governance 
for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual.   
  
This governance statement is designed to supplement the information provided in the financial 
statements. It sets out the governance structures, risk management and internal control processes that 
have been operating in West Lothian College in the year ended 31 July 2022 and reports the board’s 
assessment of the effectiveness of these arrangements.  
  
During 2021-22 there were changes to the board membership (see page 32).  
  
Governance Structure  
  
The college has an effective board and committee structure in place. All of the committees are formally 
constituted with terms of reference.    
  

  
  
The full board meets four times a year. Due to Covid restrictions the board continued to hold meetings 
online throughout the year. In addition, an annual strategic meeting took place in January 2022 where 
the board invited the Chair of the Scottish Funding Council, and key members of the local business 
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community to participate in a discussion on future ambitions.  The board also arranged a strategic 
event in May 2022, as an opportunity to meet face to face and introduce new board members.  
  
In May 2022 the board held a risk workshop facilitated by the college’s internal auditors where risk 
tolerance levels were discussed and agreed.  
  
Board of Governor Committees  
  
Due to Covid restrictions most committee meetings were held virtually in 2021, then transitioned to a 
hybrid model in May 2022.  
  
The Audit Committee meets four times a year, with the college’s external and internal auditors in 
attendance, as required. The committee considers detailed reports together with recommendations for 
the improvement of the college’s systems of internal control and management’s responses and 
implementation plans. It receives and considers reports from the Scottish Funding Council as they 
affect the college’s business and monitors adherence to the regulatory requirements. The Principal 
and Chair attend meetings of the Audit Committee but are not members of the committee.   
  
The Finance and General Purposes Committee recommends to the board the college’s annual revenue 
and capital budgets and normally meets four times a year.   
  
The Learning and Teaching Committee meets four times a year, and focuses on the quality of the 
student experience.     
  
The Chairs Committee is a meeting of the Committee Chairs, Board Chair and an additional Non-
Executive Member and is responsible for all matters of nomination and remuneration, and meets four 
times a year.  It is jointly chaired by the Board Chair and Vice-Chair to ensure there is independence 
on matters of remuneration.   
  
The Chairs Committee considers board development, succession planning and recruitment and is 
responsible for selecting candidates for appointment by the Board of Governors to vacancies in its 
membership.  The committee considers the balance of membership, including members’ experience 
and skills and identifies any gaps. The committee tries to ensure that the membership of the board 
reflects the diversity of its community. The committee makes its recommendations to the board for 
consideration and approval for appointment.  
  
The Principal is an attendee of the Chairs Committee for matters of recruitment and nomination, but is 
excluded from matters on remuneration, which is chaired by the Vice Chair.  
 
Board of Governors Membership  
  
The college’s Board of Governors comprises lay members, students and employees appointed under 
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, as amended by the Further & Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013. The majority of 
board members are non-executive. As part of succession planning, the Board has recruited two 
additional Co-opted Members to join the Board and Committees in March, to mitigate the impact of 
future recruitment.  
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The roles of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the college’s 
Principal. During 2021-22 the gender balance for non-executive positions changed from 8 males/5 
females to 7 males/6 females. Gender balance remains an area of focus and is part of the assessment 
process for all recruitment.  
   
Matters specifically reserved to the board for decision are set out in the college’s Standing Orders, by 
custom and under the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council. The board 
acknowledges the responsibility for the ongoing strategic direction of the college, approval of major 
developments and the receipt of regular reports from the Principal on the day to day operations of its 
business.  
  
Board Effectiveness  
  
An annual review of all Board Members was completed for Non-Executive Members, and no issues 
were noted in terms of meeting attendance or performance of duties and all meetings met quorum 
requirements.  The following table is a summary of attendance for all Board and Committee Members 
for the period 1st August 2021 to 31st July 2022.    
   
Board/  
Committee  

Board  Audit  L&T  F&GP  Chairs  Noms* 

Actual Meetings  4  4  4  4  3  1  
Alex Linkston  4  

 
4  4  3  1  

Sue Cook   2  1 
  

2 1  
Frank Gribben  3  

  
2  

  

Iain McIntosh  4  
 

4  
 

3  1  
Colin Miller  3 4  

    

Elaine Cook  3 
 

3  
   

Lynne Hollis* note 7  0 3  
 

2  
  

Richard Lockhart  4  4  
    

Thomas Bates  2 
 

3  
 

2  
 

Moira Niven  4  
  

4  3  1  
Sue Stahly  4  

  
2  

  

Jackie Galbraith  4  
 

4  4  
  

Julia Simpson * note 1  2 1  
    

Seonaid Crosby  2  3  
    

Neil Sinclair  3  
 

3  
   

Kirsti Clark * note 2  0  
  

0  
  

Jeannette Dobson  4  
 

4  1  
  

Virginia Toyi * note 3  2  
 

2 
   

Abel Aboh * note 4  1  
 

2  
   

Tony Sharkey* note 5  1  
  

1  
  

Rehela Hussain* note 6  1  
 

1  
   

*The nominations committee was replaced by the Chairs committee during 2021/22* 
  
Note 1:  Resigned in November 2021  
Note 2:  Maternity Leave for period from 1 August to 31 July 2022.  
Note 3:  Appointed 4 February 2022  
Note 4:  Appointed 5 January 2022  
Note 5:  Appointed as Co-Opt 15 March 2022  
Note 6:  Appointed as Co-Opt 15 March 2022  
Note 7:  Resigned May 2022  
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 Board Development Actions  
   
The board and committees have adopted a continuous process of improvement and progress is 
monitored for all development activity at the Chairs Committee and Board, every quarter. This includes 
highlighting opportunities for individual development, identified as part of the annual review or as part 
of the skills matrix assessment.    
  
All actions are captured as SMART actions, with a clear and measurable outcome, and are reviewed 
by all Board Members. Current areas of development include:  
  
• Adoption of a new risk management processes 
• Adopting a hybrid model for governance meetings in 2022-2023.  
• Onboarding new board members, including co-opted members, as part of   
         succession planning.  
• Implementing the revised Code of Conduct from June 2022.  

  
An annual review process was completed for all board members in June 2022, and all areas of 
improvement identified by individual members, committees, board or overall governance have been 
captured on the Board Development and Training Plan and progress monitored by the Board.  
   
Risk Management 
 
The college maintains a Strategic Risk Register. Each strategic risk is assigned an owner from the 
Executive Leadership team who agree the risk register and quarterly updates. The Performance 
Report details key strategic risks identified during 2021-22 and the mitigating actions. 
 
The most significant risks during 2021-22 were:  
 
• Being unable to meet demand for courses due to insufficient funding 
• Failing to deliver the curriculum plan for 2021-22 due to disruption from the ongoing pandemic 
• Inflexible organisation structure due to national bargaining restrictions  
• Our estate not adequately reconfigured in line with the college’s ambition for growth due to 

insufficient resources 
• Unaffordable pay awards and terms and conditions negotiated through the national bargaining 

process  
  
During 2021-22 the Board of Governors reviewed the process for identifying, reporting, evaluating 
and managing the college’s significant risks and agreed that: 
 

• The entire Strategic Risk Register is presented as an agenda item at every Board of Governors 
meeting for approval of any material changes  

• The discussion is facilitated by the Chair of Audit Committee, with input from all the Committee 
Chairs, Independent Person and Board Members   

• The Strategic Risk Register is presented with an executive summary which highlights material 
changes, and key themes or topics, on a rolling schedule 

• Papers relating to the effectiveness of the control environment i.e. performance indicators, HR 
Report, Finance Reports continue to be presented to the Committees, providing the Committee 
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Chairs and Members with insight on the Strategic Risk Register, but the Register is not be 
presented as a separate agenda item at the Committees. 

Reports by management have been received and reviewed by the board which have provided 
information as to how risks are being managed and what internal controls are in place.   
 
Internal Audit 
 
West Lothian College also has an internal audit service, the work of which concentrates on areas of 
key activities determined in accordance with the annual internal audit plan approved by the Board of 
Governors. The internal auditors report to the Audit Committee, and have direct access to the chair 
of the Audit Committee if required.  The internal auditors issue an annual report that gives an opinion 
of the adequacy, reliability and effectiveness of the college’s internal control system. 
 
Internal audit reports have been received on a range of areas within the college during 2021-22. In 
the internal auditor’s opinion, the college has a framework of internal controls in place that provides 
reasonable assurance regarding the organisation’s governance, risk management, achievement of 
objectives and value for money for the year ended 31 July 2022. 
 
Internal Control 
 
The college’s Board of Governors is responsible for the college’s system of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
conducted through the work of the Board of Governors, the Finance and General Purposes 
Committee and the Audit Committee. The system can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded, and that 
material errors or irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a timely period.   
 
The college has a range of internal financial controls which include:   
 
• a budgeting system with an annual budget which is approved by the Board of Governors; 
• the provision of management information on a planned, regular basis and as required; 
• regular reviews by the Finance and General Purposes Committee of monthly and annual 

financial reports and key performance indicators which indicate financial performance against 
the forecasts; and 

• financial regulations, which identify policy and set up a control system within which 
management can delegate authority whilst informing staff of correct financial procedures. 

 
Assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls 
 
The Board of Governors is of the opinion that throughout the year ended 31 July 2022, the college 
has been in compliance with all the principles set out in the 2016 Code of Good Governance for 
Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual.  
 
The Board of Governors is of the view that there is a process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the college’s significant risks, that it has been in place for the year ended 31 July 2022 and 
up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements, that it is regularly reviewed 
by the Board of Governors and that it accords with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for 
Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual. 
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External auditors have reviewed the key financial controls to the extent required, to ensure the 
college’s financial statements are not materially misstated. The external auditors have not identified 
any weaknesses in key controls and the wider scope work has identified appropriate Governance 
procedures and management has adequate arrangements in place covering standards of conduct.  
 
BREXIT 
 
The Board of Governors does not consider there to be any significant impact from BREXIT. 
 
Going Concern 
 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is due to the change of treatment of deferred Government 
Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between 
creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.   
 
 
Approved by order of the members of the board on 6 December 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Alex Linkston     Jackie Galbraith 
Chair       Principal and Chief Executive  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF WEST LOTHIAN COLLEGE, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR SCOTLAND 
AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements  

 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Governors of West Lothian 
College, the Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 

Reporting on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of West Lothian 
College for the year ended 31 July 2022 under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The 
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes 
in Reserves, Balance Sheet, and Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial 
statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

 
• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 

1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council of the state of the 
College’s affairs as at 31 July 2022 and of its deficit for the year then ended; 

 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and 
 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further    and Higher 
Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding 
Council, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

 
Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor 
General for Scotland. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were 
appointed by the Auditor General on 31 May 2016. The period of total uninterrupted 
appointment is six years. We are independent of the college in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the 
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the 

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/code_audit_practice_16.pdf
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Ethical Standard were not provided to the college. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 

 

We have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 
the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the college’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. These conclusions are not intended to, nor do they, provide 
assurance on the college’s current or future financial sustainability. However, we report on the 
college’s arrangements for financial sustainability in a separate Annual Audit Report available 
from the Audit Scotland website. 
 
Risks of material misstatement 

 
We report in our Annual Audit Report the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement that we identified and our judgements thereon. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial statements 

 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors, the 
Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control 
as the Board of Governors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is responsible for assessing the 
college’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to 
discontinue the college’s operations. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and    regulations. We 
design procedures in line with our responsibilities outlined above to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Procedures include: 
 

 

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
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• obtaining an understanding of the applicable legal and regulatory framework and how the 
college is complying with that framework; 

 
• identifying which laws and regulations are significant in the context of    the college; 

 
• assessing the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including 

how fraud might occur; and 
 

• considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence and 
capabilities to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is 
affected by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the college’s 
controls, and the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed. 

 
Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than irregularities that 
result from error as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities 
depends on factors such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of 
manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts 
manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. 

 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Reporting on regularity of expenditure and income 

Opinion on regularity 
 

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements 
were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by 
the Scottish Ministers. 

 
Responsibilities for regularity 

 

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. In 
addition to our responsibilities to detect material misstatements in the financial statements in 
respect of irregularities, we are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of 
expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000. 
 

 

https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Audit-and-Actuarial-Regulation/Audit-and-assurance/Standards-and-guidance/Standards-and-guidance-for-auditors/Auditors-responsibilities-for-audit/Description-of-auditors-responsibilities-for-audit.aspx
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Reporting on other requirements 

Opinion prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on audited part of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report 

 

We have audited the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report described as audited. In our 
opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 

 
Other information 

 

The Board of Governors is responsible for the statutory other information in the annual report 
and accounts. The statutory other information comprises the Performance Report and the 
Accountability Report excluding the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report. 

 
Our responsibility is to read all the statutory other information and, in doing so consider whether 
the statutory other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on the Performance Report and 
Governance Statement to the extent explicitly stated in the following opinions prescribed by the 
Auditor General for Scotland. 

 
Opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the Performance Report and 
Governance Statement 

 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report 
has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and 

 
• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report 
has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 

We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in    our opinion: 
 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in 
agreement with the accounting records; or 

 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 
Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 
In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the 
wider scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in our Annual Audit 
Report. 

 
Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with 
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to 
members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

 
 

 
 
Lucy Nutley 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
 
Mazars LLP 
Apex 2 
97 Haymarket Terrace 
Edinburgh 
EH12 5HD 
 
Date: 

 
Lucy Nutley is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 21 of the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
  

  Notes 

Year    Year  
Ended   Ended 

31 July 2022  
£’000   31 July 2021 

 £’000 
Income         
SFC grants 2 16,135   14,587 
Tuition fees and education contracts 3 3,064   3,437 
Other income 4 1,705   1,315 
Investment income 5 -   - 
          
Total Income   20,904   19,339 
          
Expenditure         
Staff Costs 6 16,406   15,232 
Other operating expenses 7 5,984   4,550 
Depreciation 10 885   1,035 
Interest payable 8 265   264 
          
Total Expenditure   23,540    21,081 
          

Deficit before tax   (2,636)   (1,742)   

Taxation 9         
Deficit for the year   (2,636)   (1,742) 
          
Unrealised Surplus on Revaluation of 
Assets   3,879   0 

Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of pension 
schemes   17,321   4,335 

  
  

      
Total comprehensive income for the 
year 18,564   2,593 

          Represented by:   
Restricted comprehensive income 

  
-   - 

Unrestricted comprehensive income 18,564   2,593 

    
      

18,564   2,593 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared under the FE/HE SORP. The 
SORP does not permit colleges to reflect the non-cash budget for depreciation in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Note 28 provides details of the adjusted operating 
position on a Central Government basis. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
 

  

Income and 
Expenditure 

Account 
Revaluation 

Reserve Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 31 July 2020 (20,546) 8,033 (12,513) 

Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income (1,742) - (1,742) 

Other comprehensive income 
4,335 - 4,335 

  
Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account 495 (495) 0 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 3,088 (495) 2,593 

        
Balance at 31 July 2021 (17,458) 7,538 (9,920) 
Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income (2,636) - (2,636) 

Other comprehensive income 
21,200 - 21,200 

  
Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account (3,882) 3,882 0 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 14,682 3,882 18,564 

        
Balance at 31 July 2022 (2,776) 11,420 8,644 
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 JULY 
 
      

  

  

  Notes 2022 2021 
    £’000 £’000 
Non-Current Assets     

  
  

Fixed Assets 10 23,045 19,391 
        
Current Assets     

  

  
Trade and other receivables 11 2,254 1,627 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 2,829 2,749 
        

    5,083   4,376 

Less: Creditors; amounts falling due within one year 12 (5,133)   (4,303) 

Net Current Assets / (Liabilities)   (50)   73 
          
Defined benefit obligations 15 2,334   (12,093) 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities   25,329   7,371 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more  
13 (13,916)   (13,768) 

than one year 
  
Other provisions 15 (2,770)   (3,523) 
          
          
Total Net Liabilities   8,643   (9,920) 

          

Unrestricted Reserves     

  

  
Income and expenditure account 16 (2,776) (17,458) 
Revaluation reserve   11,419 7,538 
        
Total Reserves   8,643   (9,920) 

 
The financial statements on pages 41 to 68 were approved by the Board of Governors  
On 6 December 2022 and signed on its behalf on that date by: 
 
 
 
 

Alex Linkston 
Chair 

 Jackie Galbraith 
Principal 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

  

Year  

  

Year  

Ended Ended 
31-Jul-22 31-Jul-21 

£’000 £’000 
    

Cash flow from operating activities   

  

  
Deficit for the year (2,636) (1,742) 
      
Adjustment for non-cash items     
Depreciation  885 1,035 
Deferred capital grants released to income (476) (410) 
(Increase) in debtors (627) (183) 
Increase in creditors due within one year 793 1,074 
(Decrease) in provisions (195) (199) 
Pension costs less contributions payable 2,071 1,781 
      
Adjustment for investing or financing 
activities     

Investment income (0) (0) 
Interest payable 265 264 
      
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 80   1,620 

       
Cash flows from investing activities   

  
  

Interest received 0 0 
      
  0   0 
       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Repayments of amounts borrowed 0 0 
  0   0 
       
Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents in the year 

  
  

  
80 1,620 

       
    

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents at start of the 
year 2,749 1,129 

    
  

  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
year 2,829 2,749 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS                       
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2022 
 
1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a) Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2019, 
and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards FRS 102 and the 2021-22 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the Scottish Government. 
They conform to the Accounts Direction and other guidance published by the Scottish 
Funding Council (FReM 1.1.4). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
judgement in applying the college’s accounting policies. 
 
b) Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements will be prepared under the historical cost convention as 
modified by the revaluation of surplus land and certain fixed assets. 
 
The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Reporting Standards 
as adapted or interpreted for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a 
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 
appropriate to the college for the purposes of giving a true and fair view will be selected. 
The particular policies adopted by the college in dealing with items that are considered 
material to the financial statements are set out (FReM 1.1.4). 
 
c) Going Concern 
 
The activities of the college, together with the factors likely to affect its future 
development and performance will be set out in the Performance Report. The financial 
position of the college, its cash flow and liquidity will be presented in the Financial 
Statements and accompanying Notes. The net liabilities are due to the reclassification 
of deferred Government grants as deferred income within creditors and allocated 
between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate 
 
The college’s forecasts and financial projections will indicate that the college has a 
reasonable expectation that it has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in the preparation of its Financial Statements. 
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d) Recognition of Income 
 
Income from the sale of goods or services will be credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when the goods or services are supplied to the external 
customers or the terms of the contract have been satisfied.  
     
Fee income will be stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and credited 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period in which students are 
studying.   
 
Income received in advance will be recognised as deferred income within creditors on 
the balance sheet and then released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
period it is earned.     
    
All income from short-term deposits and Investment income will be credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a receivable basis.    
     
Funds the college receives and disburses as paying agent on behalf of a funding body 
will be excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.    
       
e) Grant Funding 
 
Government revenue grants including the recurrent grants from the Scottish Funding 
Council will be recognised in income over the periods in which the college recognises 
the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. Where part of a 
government grant is deferred it will be recognised as deferred income within creditors 
and allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year 
as appropriate. 
 
Grants from non-governmental sources will be recognised in income when the college is 
entitled to the income and performance related conditions have been met. Income 
received in advance of performance related conditions being met will be recognised as 
deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet and released to income as the 
conditions are met. 
 
f) Capital Grants 
 
Government capital grants will be recognised in income over the expected useful life of 
the asset. Other capital grants will be recognised in income when the college is entitled 
to the funds subject to any performance related conditions being met. 
 
g) Short Term Employment Benefits 
 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences will be 
recognised as an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the 
college. Any unused benefits will be accrued and measured as the additional amount 
the college expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. 
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h) Pension Schemes 
 
Retirement benefits to employees of the college are provided by the Teachers' 
Superannuation Scheme (Scotland) (STSS) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF). 
These are defined benefit schemes which are externally funded and contracted out of 
the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme until March 2016.   
 
i) STSS 
 
The college is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the 
STSS on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102, will 
account for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The amount 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income will represent the contributions 
payable to the scheme in respect of the year. The contributions will be determined by 
qualified actuaries on the basis of periodic valuations using the projected unit method. 
 
ii) LPF 
 
The college’s share of LPF scheme assets and liabilities are valued by the LPF actuary, 
Hymans Robertson. Contributions to the schemes will be charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees working 
lives with the college. The contributions will be determined by an actuary on the basis of 
triennial valuations. In accordance with FRS 102, the amount charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income will represent the service cost expected to arise from 
employee service in the current year. 
 
The costs of enhanced early retirement benefits are borne directly by the college. 
 
i) Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
In line with the FReM all tangible assets must be carried at fair value. 
 
i) Land and Buildings  
 
Land and Buildings will be measured using the revaluation model. Under the revaluation 
model assets are revalued to fair value. Where appropriate Depreciated Replacement 
cost will be used as a measure of fair value for land and buildings otherwise Market 
Value will be used. The college has a policy of ensuring a full revaluation takes place at 
least every 5 years such that the fair value is not materially different to the current value.  
Depreciation and impairment losses will be subsequently charged on the revalued 
amount. 
 
Freehold land will not be depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. 
 
college buildings will be depreciated over 30 years and transferred car parking areas will 
be depreciated over 25 years, both commencing in the first full financial year after the 
date of transfer of the estate to public ownership (2 April 2007). Other additions to the 
estate will be depreciated over 10 years from the date they are brought into use.  
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Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial purchase or construction, and 
prior to valuation, will be capitalised to the extent they increase the expected future 
benefits to the college. 
 
If a building is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in the 
first year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months the asset was in use.   
 
A review for impairment of a fixed asset will be carried out if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 
 
Buildings under construction will be accounted for at cost, based on the value of 
architects’ certificates and other direct costs incurred to 31 July. They will not be 
depreciated until they are brought into use. 
 
ii) Fixed Plant and Equipment 
 
Equipment will be capitalised at cost and carried at depreciated historical cost, which is 
used as a proxy for fair value when it is expected to be in use within the business on a 
continuing basis for at least 3 years. Depreciated historical cost is deemed to be more 
appropriate than revaluing for equipment as it is common for such assets to reduce in 
value rather than to increase as they are utilised by the college (FReM 6.2).   
 
Assets of a low value may be capitalised where they form part of a group of similar 
assets purchased at approximately the same time in the same financial year and cost 
over £2,500 in total. 
 
Capitalised equipment will be depreciated over its useful economic life from the date it is 
brought into use as follows: - 
  
 Fixed Plant 5-29 years 
 Equipment  4 years 
 
Where equipment is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in 
the first year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months that the asset was in use. 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values will be reviewed at the date of 
preparation of each Balance Sheet. 
 
iii) Operating Leases 
  
Costs in respect of operating leases will be charged on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Any lease premiums or incentives will be spread over the minimum lease 
term. 
 
iv) Finance Leases  
 
Leases in which the college assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the leased asset will be classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of 
finance lease and the corresponding lease liabilities will be initially recognised at an 
amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease. 
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Minimum lease payments will be apportioned between the finance charge and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge will be allocated to each period 
during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an 
asset in return for payment will be accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 
  
j) Maintenance of Premises 
 
The cost of maintenance will be charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which it is incurred. 
 
k) Stocks 
 
Stocks will be written off in the year of acquisition on the basis of non-materiality. 
 
l) Cash  
 
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 
 
m) Taxation 
 
The college is an exempt charity within the meaning of the Trustee Investment and 
Charities (Scotland) Act 2005 and, as such is a charity within the meaning of section 506 
(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act (ICTA) 1988. The college is recognised as a 
charity by HM Revenue & Customs and is recorded on the index of charities maintained by 
the Office of Scottish Charity Regulator and therefore not liable for corporation tax. 
 
Non-recoverable Value Added Tax arising from expenditure on non-trading activities is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The college benefits by being exempt from corporation tax on income it receives from 
tuition fees, interest and rents. 
 
n) Provisions 
 
Provisions will be recognised when the college has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. 
 
o) Agency Arrangements 
 
The college acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain Student Support 
Funds. These funds will be excluded from the college Statement of Comprehensive 
Income; movements will be disclosed in the notes. Where the college has more discretion 
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in the manner in which specific funds are disbursed, and these funds do not meet the 
definition of agency funds, the income and expenditure relating to those funds will be 
shown in the college Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
p) Financial Instruments 
 
The college only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the 
recognition of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors and 
other loans to related parties. 
  
Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors 
and creditors, will be measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of 
the cash or other consideration expected to be paid or received.   
 
q) Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation   

uncertainty 
 
In preparing these financial statements, management will make the following judgements: 
 
• Determine whether leases entered into by the college either as a lessor or a lessee are 

operating or finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on 
a lease by lease basis. 

 
• Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the college’s tangible assets. 

Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic 
viability and expected future financial performance of the asset. 

 
Other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
• Tangible fixed assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets will be depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed 
annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re‐assessing asset lives, 
factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes will be taken into 
account. 
 
• Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability 
depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety 
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions 
include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying 
amount of the pension liability.  
 
• Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
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As the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is less than the 
fair value of plan assets at that date, the plan has recorded a notional surplus and 
therefore the college is showing a pension asset in the balance sheet as at 31 July 2022. 
The college consider that they will be able to recover the surplus either through reduced 
contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan, and therefore the surplus has 
been recognised in these financial statements in line with the requirements of FRS102. 
 
 
2 SFC GRANTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

SFC Teaching & fee waiver grant 
Childcare funds 
Release of deferred capital grants (SFC) 
Other SFC Grants 

 13,330 
484 
476 

1,845 

 11,857 
491 
410 

1,829 
   

16,135 
  

14,587 
 
3 TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

FE Fees - UK 
HE Fees - UK 
SDS contracts 

 822 
1,541 

701 

 851 
1,588 

998 
 
 

  
3,064 

  
3,437 

 
4  OTHER INCOME  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

Residence and catering 
European funds 
Other income generating activities 
Other income 

 141 
4 

1,033 
527 

 16 
- 

938 
361 

 
 

  
1,705 

  
1,315 
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5  INVESTMENT INCOME 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 
2021£’000 

 
Other Interest Receivable 
 

  
- 
 

  
- 
 

 
 
6 STAFF COSTS 
 
The average weekly number of persons (including senior post-holders) employed by the 
college during the period was: 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

FTE 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2021 
FTE 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other Income-generating activities 
Other staff 

  
173 

32 
52 
18 
6 

18 
3 

  
167 

35 
45 
20 
6 

19 
2 

 
 

  
302 

  
294 

 
Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 

  
 

253 
49 

  
 

258 
36 

 
 

  
302 

  
294 
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  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

Staff Costs for the above persons 
 
Wages and salaries 
Social security costs 
Other pension costs 
Restructuring costs 

  
 

11,134 
1,066 
4,201 

5 

  
 

10,478 
978 

3,785 
(9) 

 
 

  
16,406 

  
15,232 

 
 

    

Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
13,634 

666 
2,071 

5 

  
12,934 

526 
1,781 

(9) 
   

16,406 
  

15,232 
 
 
 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2022 
£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

Analysed as: 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other income-generating activities 
Other staff 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
9,007 
1,330 
1,991 

737 
209 
663 
393 

2,071 
5 

  
8,218 
1,163 
1,882 

712 
208 
839 
438 

1,781 
 (9) 

 
 

  
16,406 

  
15,232 

 
Key management personnel 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the college and are 
represented by the Senior Team which comprises the Principal and three Vice 
Principals. 
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Emoluments of Key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other 
higher paid staff  
 
  

2022 
  

2021 
 

 No.  No. 
 
The number of key management personnel 
including the Accounting Officer was: 

 
 

4 

  
 

4 
 

 
 
The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual 
emoluments, excluding pension contributions but including benefits in kind, in the 
following ranges was: 
 
 Key management 

personnel 
Other staff 

  
2022 

 
2021 

 
2022 

 
2021 

 
  

No. 
 

No. 
 

No. 
 

No. 
 
£70,001 to £80,000 
£110,001 to £120,000 

 
3 
1 

 
3 
1 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
 

 
4 

 
4 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Key management personnel emoluments are made up as follows: 
 
 2022 

 
2021 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

347 
- 

340 
- 

 347 340 
 
Pension contributions 

69 67 

 
Total emoluments 

416 407 
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There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, 
nor any salary sacrifice arrangements in place.  The above emoluments include amounts 
payable to the Accounting officer (who is also the highest paid officer) of: 
 
 2022 

 
2021 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

117 
- 

117 

 117 117 
 
Pension contributions 

23 23 

 
Total emoluments 

140 140 

 
Compensation for loss of office paid to former key management personnel 
 
 2022 

 
2021 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Compensation paid to former post-holders 
Estimated value of other benefits, including provision for 
pension benefits 

- 
- 

- 
- 

 
Overseas Activities 
 
There were no costs incurred during 2021-22 in respect of overseas activities, which were 
carried out in accordance with the strategy approved by the Board of Governors. 
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7  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering 
Other income generating activities 
Overspend on student support funds 
Childcare fund costs 
Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1,215 

292 
1,763 
1,866 

111 
174 

- 
483 

80 

  
1,095 

170 
1,192 
1,452 

27 
93 

- 
492 

29 
   

5,984 
  

4,550 
 
Other Operating Expenses (Administration) 
include: 
 

    

Auditors Remuneration (including 
irrecoverable VAT) 

- Internal audit 
- External audit 

Other services provided by: 
- Internal audit 
- External audit 
-  

  
 

29 
16 

 
- 
- 

  
 

37 
15 

- 
- 

  45  52 
 
 
8  INTEREST PAYABLE 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

 
On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 
Pension finance costs 

  
- 

265 
 

  
- 

264 
 

  265  264 
 
9 TAXATION 
 
The board does not believe the college was liable for any corporation tax arising out of its 
activities during this period. 
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10  FIXED ASSETS 

  

Land and 
Buildings 

Fixed 
Plant Equipment Total 

Freehold       
£'000 £'000 £’000 £'000 

Cost or valuation         
          
At 31 July 2021 18,529 1,810 80 20,419 
Additions  660 0 0 660 
Disposals 0 (185) 0 (185) 
On Revaluation 2,128 142 0 2,270 
          
At 31 July 2022 21,318 1,767 80 23,164 
          
Depreciation         
          
At 31 July 2021 633 382 13 1,028 
Charge for Period 669 196 20 885 
Disposals 0 (185) 0 (185) 
On Revaluation (1,216) (393) 0 (1,608) 
          
At 31 July 2022 86 0 33 120 
          Net Book Value 
At 31 July 2022 21,232 1,766 47 23,045 
          Net Book Value 
At 31 July 2021 17,896 1,428 67 19,391 
          
Financed by: 21,232 1,766 47 23,045 Capital Grant 

 
The college’s land and buildings were independently valued by Avison Young as at 31 
July 2022. This valuation has been incorporated into these financial statements. Under 
FRS102 the board gives annual consideration to assessing the value of buildings and 
equipment to be included in the annual accounts. The basis of valuation adopted was 
depreciated replacement cost. Had they not been re-valued, inherited and owned land, 
buildings and fixed plant would have had an historic net book value of £13,915,000 
(2021: £14,474,000). 
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECOVERABLES 

  Year  
Ended 

31 July 2022 
£’000 

 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

Trade Debtors  
European Funding 
Prepayments and accrued income 
Amounts Owed by SFC 

 506 
  80 

1,668 
- 

 260 
 45 

1,322 
- 

 
 

  
2,254 

  
1,627 

 
12   CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due within one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

Trade Creditors  
Taxation and Social Security 
Accruals and Deferred income 
Deferred Income – Deferred capital grant < 1 year 
Deferred Income – SFC capital grants 
Deferred Income – SFC revenue grants 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Unspent Student Funds 
 

 646 
570 

3,008 
476 

12 
183 

- 
238 

 667 
487 

1,917 
439 

12 
316 

- 
465 

   
5,133 

  
4,303 

 
13  CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due after one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Deferred Income – SFC Capital grants 
 

  
2,211 

11,705 

  
2,211 

11,557 

 
 

  
13,916 

  
13,768 
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14 MATURITY OF DEBT  
 
SFC Loan is repayable as follows: 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

In one year or less 
Between one and two years 
Between two and five years 
In five years or more 

 - 
- 

315 
1,896 

 - 
- 

158 
2,053 

 
 

  
2,211 

  
2,211 

 
The college voluntarily terminated its PFI contract in April 2007, at which point the title of 
the college buildings transferred to the college. The college received total funding from 
SFC in April 2007 of £27.7million to enable it to terminate the contract. This comprised a 
grant of £22.16million and a repayable advance of £5.54million representing the 
college’s own contribution towards the cost of the assets previously held under the PFI 
contract.   
 
The £5.54million advance is interest free and was repayable in equal instalments over 
16 years.  The first repayment was made in August 2010 and at 31 July 2019 the 
amount outstanding was £2,369,055. In March 2014 the college made an upfront 
payment of £650,000 towards the loan and negotiated a reduced annual payment of 
£157,937 per annum with the Scottish Funding Council from April 2015. 
 
In 2020 the Scottish Funding Council agreed to the suspension of repayments on the 
loan from July 2021 to July 2025 inclusive, recommencing in July 2026. As a result, the 
loan period has been extended to July 2039. 
 
15 PROVISIONS  
 
 Defined 

Benefit 
Obligations  

 
£’000 

Early 
Retirement 

Provision  
 

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 

£'000 
 
At 1 August 2021 
 
Expenditure in the period 
Other movements in period 
 

 
12,093 

 
(1,087) 

(13,340) 

 
3,523 

 
(195) 
(558) 

 
15,616 

 
(1,282) 

(13,898) 

 
At 31 July 2022 

 
(2,334) 

 
2,770 

 
436 
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Defined benefit obligations relate to liabilities under the college’s membership of the 
Local Government pension scheme.  Further details are given at Note 18. 
 
The early retirement provision is in accordance with a valuation carried out by Hymans 
Robertson, an independent firm of actuaries at 31 July 2022. 
 
16 RESERVES 
 
Analysis of income and expenditure account 
 
 I&E 

Account  
Trading 

Activities 
 

£'000 
 

I&E 
Account  
Holiday 

Pay 
 

£,000 

I&E  
Account 

 PFI Loan 
 
 

£'000 
 

I&E  
Account 

 Early  
Retirement  

 
£'000 

 

I&E  
Account 
Defined 
Benefit 
Pension  

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 
 

£'000 

At 31 July 2021 
 

634 (265) (2,211) (3,523) (12,093) (17,458) 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year 
(excluding 
revaluation) 
 

3,630 (51) - 558 14,427 18,564 

Transfer to 
revaluation 
reserve 
  

(3,882)     (3,882) 

Payments for early 
retirement 
 

(195)   195  - 

 
At 31 July 2021 
 

 
187 

 
(316) 

 
(2,211) 

 
(2,770) 

 
2,334 

 
(2,776) 

 
17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  
 At 1 August 

2021 
 £'000 

 
Cash 

Flows 
 £'000 

 

 
Other 
£'000 

At 31 July 
2022 

 £'000 

Cash 
Debt due within 1 year 
Debt due after 1 year 

2,749 
- 

(2,211) 

80 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

2,829 
- 

(2,211) 
 
 

 
538 

 
80 

 
- 

 
618 
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18 PENSION COMMITMENTS 
 
The college’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Scottish 
Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (STSS), and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).   
 
Total pension cost for the period Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 
 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

 
STSS contributions paid 
 

    1,043  1,005 

LPF Pension scheme: 
        Contributions paid 
        FRS 102 (28) charge 
 

 
1,087 
2,071 

  
998 

1,781 

 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 
 

 3,158  2,779 

 
Total Pension Cost  for the period within staff 
costs 

 4,201  3,785 

 
Contributions amounting to £192,000 (2021: £171,000) were payable to the schemes at 
31 July and are included within creditors. 
 
Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 
 
The Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme is a notional fund valued every year by 
the Government actuary. Contributions are paid by the college at the rate specified.  The 
Scheme is unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer. The payments from 
the scheme are made from funds voted by the Scottish Parliament. The contribution rate 
payable by the employer since 1 April 2015 is 17.2% of pensionable salaries. From 1 
September 2019 this rate increased to 23%. 
 
Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard 102 (28.11) (FRS 102), the 
STSS is a multi-employer pension plan. The college is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the college has taken 
advantage of its exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions as if it 
were a defined contribution plan. The college has set out above the information available 
on the plan and the implications for the college in terms of the anticipated contribution 
rates. 
 
Lothian Pension Fund Scheme 
 
The Lothian Pension Fund is valued every three years by professionally qualified 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method, the rates of contribution 
payable being determined by the trustees on the advice of the actuaries. In the 
intervening years, the LPF actuary reviews the progress of the LPF scheme. 
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The Lothian Pension Fund is a funded defined-benefit plan, with assets held in separate 
funds administered by City of Edinburgh Council. The total contributions made for the 
year ended 31 July 2022 were £1,087,000 and employees’ contributions totalled 
£337,000. The agreed contribution rates for future years for the employer are 19.8% 
from 1 April 2020.  For employees, contribution rates range from 5.5% to 12.0% 
depending on salary. 
 
Principal Actuarial assumptions 
 
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 
2017 updated to 31 July 2022 by a qualified independent actuary. 
 
 At 31 July  

2022 
 

At 31 July  
2021 

 
Rate of increase in salaries 3.3% 3.4% 
Future pensions increases 1.5% 1.5% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 3.5% 1.6% 
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.8% 2.9% 
Commutation of pensions – pre April 2009 50% 50% 
Commutation of pensions – post April 2009 75% 75% 

 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements 
in mortality rate. The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 
 
 
 

Males Females 

Current pensioners 20.3 years 23.1 years 
Future pensioners  21.6 years 25.0 years 

 
The college’s share of assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return are: 

 
 Long term 

rate of 
return  

 

Fair 
Value at  
31 July 

2022 
£'000 

Long term 
rate of 
return  

 

Fair Value 
 at  

31 July 
2021 
£'000 

     
Equities 3.5% 21,215 1.6% 19,697 
Bonds 3.5% 4,183 1.6% 3,831 
Property 3.5% 2,092 1.6% 1,641 
Cash 3.5% 2,390 1.6% 2,188 
     
Total fair value of employer assets  29,880  27,357 
     
Actual return on employer assets  1,667  3,690 
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The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit 
pension plan is as follows: 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2022 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2021 

£'000 
   
Fair value of employer assets 29,880 27,357 
Present value of funded liabilities (27,546) (39,450) 
   
Net Pension Liability 2,334 (12,093) 

 
As the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is less than 
the fair value of plan assets at that date, the plan has recorded a notional surplus and 
therefore the college is showing a pension asset in the balance sheet as at 31 July 2022.  
 
The college consider that they will be able to recover the surplus either through reduced 
contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan, and therefore the surplus 
has been recognised in these financial statements in line with the requirements of 
FRS102. 
 
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the 
plan are as follows: 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2022 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2021 

£'000 
Amounts included in staff costs   
   
Current service cost 3,158 2,779 
Past service cost 
 

- - 

Total 3,158 2,779 
 
 
Amounts included in Pension Costs   
   
Net pension costs 
 

210 212 

Total 210 212 
 
Amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

  

   
Return on pension assets 1,223 3,362 
Change in demographic assumptions 158 1,458 
Change in financial assumptions 15,154 (2,667) 
Other experience 
 

173 
 

2,046 

Total 16,708 4,199 
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Movement in net defined benefit (liability) during 
year 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2022 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

   
Net defined benefit (liability) at start of period (12,093) (14,299) 
Movement in period:   

Current service costs (3,158) (2,779) 
Past service costs - - 
Employer contributions 1,087 998 
Net interest on the defined liability (210) (212) 
Actuarial (loss)/gain 16,708 4,199 

 
Net defined benefit (liability) at end of period 

 
2,334 

 
(12,093) 

 
Asset and Liability Reconciliation 
 
Changes in fair value of plan assets Year  

Ended 
31 July 2022 

£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

   
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 27,357 23,058 
Interest on plan assets 
Past Service Cost 

444 
- 

328 
- 

Return on plan assets 1,223 3,362 
Employer contributions 1,087 998 
Contributions by plan participants 
Other experience 

337 
- 

308 
(163) 

Benefits paid (568) (534) 
 
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 

 
29,880 

 
27,357 

 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit 
obligations 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2022 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2021 
£’000 

   
Defined benefit obligation at start of period 39,450 37,357 
Current service cost 3,158 2,779 
Past service cost - - 
Interest cost 654 540 
Contributions by plan participants 337 308 
Changes in demographic assumptions (158) (1,458) 
Changes in financial assumptions (15,154) 2,667 
Other experience (173) (2,209) 
Benefits paid (568) (534) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 27,546 39,450 
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19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost totalled £585,000 
(2021: £260,000) at the balance sheet date.  This comprises trade debtors and amounts 
owed by SFC. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost totalled £6,128,000 (2021: £5,248,000) 
at the balance sheet date.  This comprises trade creditors, accruals, unspent student 
funds and amounts owed to SFC. 
 
 
20 LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS 
 
 

Above SFC annual reporting 
requirements 

SFC 
Requirement 
Per Instance 

 
2022 

Number 

 
2022 
Total 

 
Debt write-off 

 
£3,000 

  

Cash losses £3,000 - - 
Ex-gratia payments £1,000 2 £35,297 
Compensation payments £5,000 - - 

 
 
21   CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 
At 31 July the college had commitments of a capital nature as follows: 
 
 2022 

£000 
2021 
£000 

 
Committed but not contracted 

 
- 

 
- 

Committed and contracted - - 
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22 LEASE OBLIGATIONS 
 
At 31 July the college had minimum lease payments under non‐cancellable operating 
leases as follows: 
 
 2022  

£’000 
2021 
£000 

Other   
 
Expiring within one year 
Expiring between one and five years 
 

 
48 

                     12 

   
                     38                  

- 

 60 38 
 
During 2021-22 the college paid £48,000 in operating lease rentals. 
 
23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
There were no contingent liabilities at Balance Sheet date. 
 
24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Owing to the nature of the college’s operations and the composition of the Board of 
Governors being drawn from local public and private organisations, it is inevitable that 
transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Board of 
Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are 
conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the college’s financial regulations and 
normal procurement procedures. 
 
The college had transactions during the year or worked in partnership with the following 
publicly funded or representative bodies in which members of the Board of Governors 
hold or held official positions. 
Name 
 

Organisation Position 

Mr Alex Linkston 
 
Mr Alex Linkston 
 
Elaine Cook 
 
Sue Cook 
 

The Princes Trust 
 
Colleges Scotland 
 
West Lothian Council 
 
The Princes Trust 
 

Council Member 
 
Board Member 
 
Depute Chief Executive  
 
Member 

2020-21:   
Name 
 

Organisation Position 

Mr Alex Linkston 
 
Elaine Cook 
 

Colleges Scotland 
 
West Lothian Council 
 

Board Member 
 
Depute Chief Executive  
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The value of the transactions due to/by the college for the twelve months ended 31 July 
2022, and the amount outstanding at this date was as follows: 
 

Organisation Year ended 31 July 2022 Year ended 31 July 2021 

  

Total Value 
of 

Transactions 
Balance 

Outstanding 
Total Value 

of 
Transactions 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Due to WLC                                
West Lothian Council 720 39 0 0 
The Princes Trust 7 7 0 0 
Due by WLC         
Colleges Scotland 32 2 30 0 
West Lothian Council 299 9 178 11 

 
No expenses were paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year. (2021: nil).   
 
The Chair of the Board received a salary in accordance with the directions issued by the 
Scottish Government. The total paid to the Chair over the period was £21,944 (2021: 
£23,758) 
 
 
25 FE BURSARIES AND OTHER STUDENT SUPPORT FUNDS 

 
    FE      2021-22 2020-21 
  FE Bursary Discr’y EMAs Other Total Total 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance b/fwd 422 0 0 43 465 (16) 
Allocations received in year 3,183 1,210 151 552 5,096 4,510 
Expenditure (2,781) (1,763) (151) (317) (5,012) (4,056) 
Repaid to SFC  (531) - 0 - (531) (189) 
Virements (69) 553 0 (264) 220 216 
Balance c/fwd 225 0 0 13 238 465 

 
Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor / (debtor) are included in the 
balance sheet.  FE Bursaries and Student Support Funds are available solely for 
students; the college acts only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements 
are therefore excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
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26 CHILDCARE FUNDS 
 

  2021-22 2020-21 
  £’000 £’000 
Balance b/fwd 0 0 
Allocations received in year 703 708 
Expenditure (483) (492) 
Repaid to SFC  0 0 
Virements (220) (216) 
Balance c/fwd 0 0 

 
Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor are included in the balance sheet.  
Childcare Funds are reported gross in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
 
27 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
There have been no significant post balance sheet events. 
 
28 IMPACT OF DEPRECIATION BUDGET ON STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 
 
Following reclassification, colleges received a non-cash budget to cover depreciation but 
this additional budget is not recognised under the FE/HE SORP accounting rules.  
Colleges may show a deficit equivalent to net depreciation as a result of having to meet 
Government accounting rules and the requirement to spend the entire cash allocation. 
 
Under the FE/HE SORP, the college recorded an operating deficit of £2,636,000 for the 
year ended 31 July 2022.  After adjusting for the non-cash allocation provided under 
government rules, the college shows an ‘adjusted’ deficit of £2,446,000 on a Central 
Government basis. 
 
 2021-22 

 
£’000 

 

2020-21 
 

£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses (FE/HE 
SORP basis) for academic year 
 

(2,636) (1,742) 

Add: Depreciation budget for government 
funded assets (net of deferred capital grant) 
for academic year 
 

190 190 

Operating deficit on Central Government 
accounting basis for academic year 
 
 

(2,446) (1,552) 

 
The deficit is attributable to other factors reflected in the adjusted operating table (see 
page 16) and the college is therefore operating sustainably within its funding allocation.  
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APPENDIX 1 
 

Accounts Direction 
 
The following note is taken from the 2021-22 SFC Accounts Directions and has 
been included as required by SFC.  It does not form part of the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Accounts direction for Scotland’s colleges 2021-22 
 
1. It is the Scottish Funding Council’s direction that institutions comply with the 2019 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education 
(SORP) in preparing their annual report and accounts.  
 
2. Institutions must comply with the accounts direction in the preparation of their annual 
report and accounts in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish 
Funding Council (SFC) or the Regional Strategic Body (RSB) (for assigned colleges).  
 
3. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board are also required to 
comply with the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2021-22 (FReM) where 
applicable. In cases where there is a conflict between the FReM and the SORP, the 
latter will take precedence. 
 
4. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board must send two copies 
of their annual report and accounts to the Auditor General for Scotland by 31 December 
2022.  
 
5. The annual report and accounts should be signed by the chief executive officer / 
Executive Director and by the chair, or one other member of the governing body.  
 
6. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board should reproduce this 
Direction as an appendix to the annual report and accounts.  
 
 
 
Scottish Funding Council  
18 July 2022  
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